

Steve Sisolak, Governor



Maggie Tracey, O.M.D., *President*  
Lisa Grant, O.M.D., *Secretary/Treasurer*  
Michael Ferris, O.M.D., *Member*  
Eric Richardson, M.D., *Member*  
Jennifer Braster, *Member*  
Merle Lok, *Executive Director*

**STATE OF NEVADA**  
**BOARD OF ORIENTAL MEDICINE**  
**3191 E. Warm Springs Rd.**  
**Las Vegas, NV 89120**  
Phone (702) 675-5326 Fax (702) 989-8584  
Email: [omboardexecutivedirector@gmail.com](mailto:omboardexecutivedirector@gmail.com)

**NOTICE OF INTENT TO ACT UPON A REGULATION**

**Notice of Hearing for the Adoption of LCB File No. R026-22 of the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine**

The Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine will hold a Public Hearing at 6:00 p.m., on July 27, 2022 with Zoom access as stated below.

Members of the public are invited to attend virtually with the following Zoom link below or via telephone:

**Videoconference:**

<https://us02web.zoom.us/j/9737003097>

Meeting ID: 973 700 3097

Passcode: 009262

**Telephone:**

1-253-215-8782

Meeting ID: 973 700 3097

Passcode: 009262

The purpose of the hearing is to receive comments from all interested persons regarding the adoption of a regulation pertaining to Chapter 634A of the Nevada Administrative Code, LCB File No. R026-22. The following information is provided pursuant to the requirements of NRS 233B.0603:

**1. The need for and the purpose of the proposed regulation.**

The need for and the purpose of the proposed regulation is to protect the public health, safety and welfare by ensuring that only qualified and competent Oriental Medicine Doctors are licensed in the state. The purpose of the adopted regulation is to provide clarity for the public, individuals and licensees through regulations.

The proposed regulation changes are listed below:

Existing law requires each applicant for a license to practice as a doctor of Oriental medicine to pass: (1) each examination required and administered by the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine or its successor organization for certification in Oriental medicine; and (2) an examination approved by the State Board of Oriental Medicine that tests the applicant's knowledge and understanding of the laws and regulations of this State relating to health and safety in the practice of Oriental medicine. (NRS 634A.120) Existing regulations require that an applicant for a license to practice as a doctor of Oriental medicine must have passed the examinations administered by the Commission within the 12 months preceding the date of application for licensure or be certified by the Commission or its successor organization. Existing regulations also: (1) require the Board to give the practical examination in June and December of each year; (2) set forth the subjects that may be included in the practical examination; (3) require an applicant to receive an overall score of at least 70 percent and 65 percent on each of its sections or subparts to pass the practical examination; and (4) provides that an applicant who failed only one section of the practical examination will be reexamined only with respect to the section that he or she failed. (NAC 634A.085, 634A.100, 634A.110) **Section 2** of this regulation defines the term "national examination" to mean each examination required and administered by the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine or its successor organization for certification in Oriental medicine. **Section 3** of this regulation defines the term "state examination" to mean the examination approved by the Board that tests the applicant's knowledge and understanding of the laws and regulations of this State relating to health and safety in the practice of Oriental medicine, and this term replaces the term "practical examination." **Section 4** of this regulation makes a conforming change to indicate the proper placement of **sections 2 and 3** within the Nevada Administrative Code, and **sections 5, 7-10 and 15** of this regulation make conforming changes to reflect the changes in terminology. **Section 7** of this regulation eliminates the requirement that an applicant for licensure as a doctor of Oriental medicine must pass the examinations administered by the Commission within the 12 months preceding the date of the application for licensure or be certified by the Commission or its successor organization. **Section 9** of this regulation: (1) authorizes the Board to give additional state examinations at any time the Board may designate; (2) revises the list of subjects that may be included in the state examination; and (3) eliminates the requirement that an applicant must receive a score of at least 65 percent on each of the sections or subparts of the state examination. **Section 10** of this regulation eliminates the requirement that an applicant who failed only one section of the state examination will be reexamined only with respect to the section that he or she failed.

Existing law requires the Board to issue a license to practice as a doctor of Oriental medicine to an applicant who, among other requirements, has successfully completed a 4-year program of study, or its equivalent, in Oriental medicine at a school or college of Oriental medicine that is approved by the Board. (NRS 634A.090, 634A.140) Existing regulations set forth the requirements for the Board to approve a 4-year program of study, or its equivalent, in Oriental medicine, which include, among other requirements: (1) training or instruction in certain subjects; and (2) that a student graduate on or after November 25, 2002 having completed at least 3,000 hours of instruction, including not less than 2,500 didactic hours. (NAC 634A.080) **Section 6** of this regulation adds that a program of study that results in a combined bachelor's and master's degree in Oriental medicine is sufficient to satisfy the requirement that a student

who graduates on or after November 25, 2002, must complete at least 3,000 hours of instruction, including not less than 2,500 didactic hours.

Existing law requires an applicant for the renewal of a license to practice as a doctor of Oriental medicine to complete certain requirements for continuing education. (NRS 634A.167) Existing regulations authorize a licensee who earns more than 10 hours of credit for continuing education in any calendar year to carry forward up to 10 hours of excess credit and apply such excess credit to the educational requirements for the next calendar year if the licensee indicates in writing, at the time he or she submits the form for renewal of his or her license, that the licensee intends to carry forward such excess credit. (NAC 634A.135) **Section 11** of this regulation eliminates the requirement that a licensee indicate in writing at the time he or she submits the form for renewal of his or her license that the licensee intends to carry forward any such excess credit.

Existing regulations prohibit a person or entity from offering a course of continuing education for licensees in this State unless prior approval for the course has been obtained from the Board. (NAC 634A.137) **Section 12** of this regulation authorizes certain courses which are approved for recertification by the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine to be offered as courses of continuing education for licensees in this State without prior approval by the Board and exempts such courses from the imposition of fees for the approval of courses of continuing education.

Existing regulations provide that the Board will prorate by the month the annual fee for the first renewal of an active or inactive license to practice Oriental medicine. (NAC 634A.140) **Section 13** of this regulation instead provides that a holder of a license is not required to pay the annual fee for the first renewal of an active or inactive license until February 1 of the year following the year in which the license was issued.

Existing regulations set forth the requirements for the reinstatement of a license to practice Oriental medicine that has been cancelled and require a person whose license has been cancelled to comply with the requirements within 1 year after cancellation or reapply for a new license. (NAC 634A.150) **Section 14** of this regulation instead requires a person whose license has expired to comply with the requirements within 90 days after expiration or reapply for a new license. **Section 15** of this regulation makes conforming changes to the fees charged by the Board. **Section 15** also eliminates the fees charged by the Board for transfers of licenses between active status and inactive status. **Section 16** of this regulation: (1) authorizes the payment of fees and remittances to the Board by credit card or debit card; and (2) provides that the Board will not refund any original or reexamination fee for the state examination or any renewal fee for an active or inactive license.

Existing regulations require certain applicants for a license to practice Oriental medicine to pass the Test of English as a Foreign Language Paper-Based Test or the Test of English as a Foreign Language Internet-Based Test and to demonstrate a reasonable proficiency in the English language through an oral interview at the time of the practical examination. (NAC 634A.095) **Section 17** of this regulation eliminates these requirements.

Existing regulations prohibit a holder of a license to practice Oriental medicine from operating under a fictitious name unless the licensee complies with certain requirements, including the submission of an application and fee to the Board. (NAC 634A.121) **Section 17** eliminates that prohibition. **Section 15** makes a conforming change to the fees charged by the Board.

**2. If the proposed regulation is a permanent regulation, a statement explaining how to obtain the approved or revised text of the proposed regulation prepared by the Legislative Counsel pursuant to NRS 233B.063.**

A copy of the proposed regulation may be obtained at:

Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine  
3191 E. Warm Springs Rd.  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89120  
Phone (702) 675-5326  
Fax (702) 989-8584  
Email: omboardexecutivedirector@gmail.com

**3. A statement of the estimated economic effect of the regulation on the business which it is to regulate and on the public. These must be stated separately and in each case must include:**

**(a) Both adverse and beneficial effects.**

The adoption of these regulations should have no adverse economic effect on business, the public, or licensees. The benefits of these regulations are that the business, the public, or licensees will have additional clarity and the process is more streamlined in NAC 634A.

**(b) Both immediate and long-term effects.**

The immediate and long-term effects of the proposed regulations are additional clarity and the process is more streamlined in NAC 634A.

**4. A statement identifying the methods used by the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine in determining the impact on a small business prepared pursuant to subsection 3 of NRS 233B.0608:**

The Board solicited comments with the Small Business Impact Study form to its licensees and requestors as well as held a public workshop on 4/5/2022. There were 2 comments but they were unrelated to any impact on small businesses.

**6. The estimated cost to the agency for enforcement of the proposed regulation.**

There will be no significant cost to the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine for enforcement of the proposed regulation.

**7. A description of any regulations of other state or local government agencies which the proposed regulation overlaps or duplicates and a statement explaining why the duplication or overlapping is necessary. If the regulation overlaps or duplicates a federal regulation, the notice must include the name of the regulating federal agency.**

There are no similar regulations of other state or government agencies that the proposed regulations overlap or duplicate.

**8. If the regulation is required pursuant to federal law, a citation and description of the federal law.**

This proposed regulation is not required by federal law.

**9. If the regulation includes provisions which are more stringent than a federal regulation that regulates the same activity, a summary of such provisions.**

There is no federal regulation that regulates the same activities in this proposed regulation.

**10. The time when, the place where and the manner in which interested persons may present their views regarding the proposed regulation.**

Persons wishing to comment upon the proposed action of the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine may appear and make oral comment at the scheduled public hearing, or may address their comments, data, views or arguments, in written form, to the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine, Attention: Merle Lok, Executive Director, at 3191 E. Warm Springs Road, Las Vegas, Nevada 89120, Phone (702) 675-5326; Fax (702) 989-8584; Email: omboardexecutivedirector@gmail.com. Written submissions must be received by Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine on or before July 25, 2022. If no person who is directly affected by the proposed action appears to request time to make an oral presentation, the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine may proceed immediately to act upon any written submission.

**11. New or increases in existing fees.**

There are no new fees or increases in existing fees.

Persons wishing to comment on the proposed action of the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine may appear at the scheduled public hearing or address their comments, data, views or arguments in written form to the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine, 3191 E. Warm Springs Rd., Las Vegas, NV 89120. The Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine must receive all written submissions on or before July 25, 2022. If no person who is directly affected by the proposed action appears to request time to make an oral presentation, the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine may proceed immediately to action upon any written submissions.

A copy of this notice and the regulations to be adopted, LCB File No. R026-22, will be on file at the Nevada State Library, 100 Stewart Street, Carson City, Nevada, for inspection by members of the public during business hours. Copies of the notice and the regulations to be adopted, LCB File No. R026-22, will be available from the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine, 3191 E. Warm Springs Rd., Las Vegas, NV 89120, for inspection and copying by members of the public during business hours and will be available on the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine. The Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine at <https://orientalmedicine.nv.gov>. This notice and the text of the proposed regulations are also available in the State of Nevada Register of Administrative Regulations, which is prepared and published monthly by the Legislative Counsel Bureau pursuant to NRS 233B.0653 and on the Internet at <https://www.leg.state.nv.us>. Copies of this notice and the proposed regulation will also be mailed to members of the public upon request.

Upon adoption of any regulations, the agency, if requested to do so by an interested person, either before adoption or within 30 days thereafter, will issue a concise statement of the principal reasons for and against its adoption or incorporate therein its reason for overruling the consideration urged against its adoption.

This **Notice of Hearing** has been posted on the Board's website <https://orientalmedicine.nv.gov>; and may also be accessed at the following websites:

<https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/Notice/A/> - Nevada Legislature Administrative Notices

<https://notice.nv.gov/> - State of Nevada Public Notices

<http://www.leg.state.nv.us/register/> - State of Nevada Register of Administrative Regulations

This Notice of Hearing also has been deposited at the following locations:

Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine – 3191 E. Warm Springs Rd., Las Vegas, NV 89120

Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine website: [http://](http://orientalmedicine.nv.gov/)

[orientalmedicine.nv.gov/](http://orientalmedicine.nv.gov/)

Office of the Attorney General - 100 N. Carson St., Carson City, NV 89701

Office of the Attorney General- Grant Sawyer Bldg., 555 E. Washington Ave., Las Vegas, NV 89101

State Library and Archives -100 N. Stewart Street, Carson City, NV 89701  
Battle Mountain Branch Library-625 South Broad Street, Battle Mountain,  
Nevada 89820  
Carson City Library- 900 N. Roop Street, Carson City, Nevada 89701  
Churchill County Library - 553 S. Maine Street, Fallon, Nevada 89406  
Clark County Library- 7060 W. Windmill Lane, Las Vegas, Nevada 89113  
Douglas County Public Library - 1625 Library Lane, Minden, Nevada 89423  
Elko County Library - 720 Court Street, Elko, Nevada 89801  
Esmeralda County Library - 10 Montezuma Way, Silverpeak, Nevada 89047  
Eureka Branch Library - 80 S. Monroe, Eureka, Nevada 89316  
Humboldt County Library- 85 E. 5th Street, Winnemucca, Nevada 89445  
Lincoln County Library-63 Main Street, Pioche, Nevada 89043  
Lyon County Central Library - 20 Nevin Way, Yerington, Nevada 89447  
Mineral County Library - 110 1st Street, Hawthorne, Nevada 89415  
Pershing County Library - 1125 Central Avenue, Lovelock, Nevada 89419  
Storey County Library – 175 Carson Street, Virginia City, Nevada 89440  
Tonopah Library - 167 S. Central Street, Tonopah, Nevada 89049  
Washoe County Library - 301 S. Center Street, Reno, Nevada 89505  
White Pine County Library - 950 Campton Street, Ely, Nevada 89301

A copy of this notice of intent to act upon a regulation has been e-mailed to all licensees of the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine for whom the Board has permission to contact, and to all persons who have requested in writing that they be placed upon a mailing list, which is maintained by the Nevada State Board of Oriental Medicine for this purpose.





**PROPOSED REGULATION OF THE  
STATE BOARD OF ORIENTAL MEDICINE**

**LCB File No. R026-22**

April 20, 2022

EXPLANATION – Matter in *italics* is new; matter in brackets ~~omitted material~~ is material to be omitted.

AUTHORITY: §§ 1-5, 7-10, 17, NRS 634A.070 and 634A.120; § 6, NRS 634A.070, 634A.090 and 634A.140; § 11, NRS 634A.070 and 634A.167; § 12, NRS 634A.070 and 634A.225; §§ 13 and 14, NRS 634A.070 and 634A.160; § 15, NRS 634A.070, 634A.110, 634A.160 and 634A.165; § 16, NRS 634A.070 and 634A.110.

A REGULATION relating to Oriental medicine; revising requirements for the proof of qualification of an applicant for licensure to practice Oriental medicine; revising provisions relating to the examinations of an applicant for a license to practice Oriental medicine; revising provisions relating to continuing education requirements; providing that certain courses approved by the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine may be offered as courses for continuing education without approval from the Board; revising provisions relating to the renewal of a license to practice Oriental medicine; authorizing the payment of fees to the Board by credit card or debit card; eliminating the requirement that certain applicants for a license to practice Oriental medicine must pass certain English proficiency tests and demonstrate a reasonable proficiency in the English language during an oral interview at the practical examination; eliminating provisions relating to a licensee operating under a fictitious name; eliminating certain fees; and providing other matters properly relating thereto.

**Legislative Counsel's Digest:**

Existing law requires each applicant for a license to practice as a doctor of Oriental medicine to pass: (1) each examination required and administered by the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine or its successor organization for certification in Oriental medicine; and (2) an examination approved by the State Board of Oriental Medicine that tests the applicant's knowledge and understanding of the laws and regulations of this State relating to health and safety in the practice of Oriental medicine. (NRS 634A.120) Existing regulations require that an applicant for a license to practice as a doctor of Oriental medicine must have passed the examinations administered by the Commission within

the 12 months preceding the date of application for licensure or be certified by the Commission or its successor organization. Existing regulations also: (1) require the Board to give the practical examination in June and December of each year; (2) set forth the subjects that may be included in the practical examination; (3) require an applicant to receive an overall score of at least 70 percent and 65 percent on each of its sections or subparts to pass the practical examination; and (4) provides that an applicant who failed only one section of the practical examination will be reexamined only with respect to the section that he or she failed. (NAC 634A.085, 634A.100, 634A.110) **Section 2** of this regulation defines the term “national examination” to mean each examination required and administered by the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine or its successor organization for certification in Oriental medicine. **Section 3** of this regulation defines the term “state examination” to mean the examination approved by the Board that tests the applicant’s knowledge and understanding of the laws and regulations of this State relating to health and safety in the practice of Oriental medicine, and this term replaces the term “practical examination.” **Section 4** of this regulation makes a conforming change to indicate the proper placement of **sections 2 and 3** within the Nevada Administrative Code, and **sections 5, 7-10 and 15** of this regulation make conforming changes to reflect the changes in terminology. **Section 7** of this regulation eliminates the requirement that an applicant for licensure as a doctor of Oriental medicine must pass the examinations administered by the Commission within the 12 months preceding the date of the application for licensure or be certified by the Commission or its successor organization. **Section 9** of this regulation: (1) authorizes the Board to give additional state examinations at any time the Board may designate; (2) revises the list of subjects that may be included in the state examination; and (3) eliminates the requirement that an applicant must receive a score of at least 65 percent on each of the sections or subparts of the state examination. **Section 10** of this regulation eliminates the requirement that an applicant who failed only one section of the state examination will be reexamined only with respect to the section that he or she failed.

Existing law requires the Board to issue a license to practice as a doctor of Oriental medicine to an applicant who, among other requirements, has successfully completed a 4-year program of study, or its equivalent, in Oriental medicine at a school or college of Oriental medicine that is approved by the Board. (NRS 634A.090, 634A.140) Existing regulations set forth the requirements for the Board to approve a 4-year program of study, or its equivalent, in Oriental medicine, which include, among other requirements: (1) training or instruction in certain subjects; and (2) that a student graduate on or after November 25, 2002 having completed at least 3,000 hours of instruction, including not less than 2,500 didactic hours. (NAC 634A.080) **Section 6** of this regulation: (1) removes laboratory and radiology as subjects required for the Board to approve a 4-year program of study, or its equivalent, in Oriental medicine; and (2) adds that a program of study that results in a combined bachelor’s and master’s degree in Oriental medicine is sufficient to satisfy the requirement that a student who graduates on or after November 25, 2002, must complete at least 3,000 hours of instruction, including not less than 2,500 didactic hours.

Existing law requires an applicant for the renewal of a license to practice as a doctor of Oriental medicine to complete certain requirements for continuing education. (NRS 634A.167) Existing regulations authorize a licensee who earns more than 10 hours of credit for continuing

education in any calendar year to carry forward up to 10 hours of excess credit and apply such excess credit to the educational requirements for the next calendar year if the licensee indicates in writing, at the time he or she submits the form for renewal of his or her license, that the licensee intends to carry forward such excess credit. (NAC 634A.135) **Section 11** of this regulation eliminates the requirement that a licensee indicate in writing at the time he or she submits the form for renewal of his or her license that the licensee intends to carry forward any such excess credit.

Existing regulations prohibit a person or entity from offering a course of continuing education for licensees in this State unless prior approval for the course has been obtained from the Board. (NAC 634A.137) **Section 12** of this regulation authorizes certain courses which are approved for recertification by the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine to be offered as courses of continuing education for licensees in this State without prior approval by the Board and exempts such courses from the imposition of fees for the approval of courses of continuing education.

Existing regulations provide that the Board will prorate by the month the annual fee for the first renewal of an active or inactive license to practice Oriental medicine. (NAC 634A.140) **Section 13** of this regulation instead provides that a holder of a license is not required to pay the annual fee for the first renewal of an active or inactive license until February 1 of the year following the year in which the license was issued.

Existing regulations set forth the requirements for the reinstatement of a license to practice Oriental medicine that has been cancelled and require a person whose license has been cancelled to comply with the requirements within 1 year after cancellation or reapply for a new license. (NAC 634A.150) **Section 14** of this regulation instead requires a person whose license has expired to comply with the requirements within 90 days after expiration or reapply for a new license. **Section 15** of this regulation makes conforming changes to the fees charged by the Board. **Section 15** also eliminates the fees charged by the Board for transfers of licenses between active status and inactive status. **Section 16** of this regulation: (1) authorizes the payment of fees and remittances to the Board by credit card or debit card; and (2) provides that the Board will not refund any original or reexamination fee for the state examination or any renewal fee for an active or inactive license.

Existing regulations require certain applicants for a license to practice Oriental medicine to pass the Test of English as a Foreign Language Paper-Based Test or the Test of English as a Foreign Language Internet-Based Test and to demonstrate a reasonable proficiency in the English language through an oral interview at the time of the practical examination. (NAC 634A.095) **Section 17** of this regulation eliminates these requirements.

Existing regulations prohibit a holder of a license to practice Oriental medicine from operating under a fictitious name unless the licensee complies with certain requirements, including the submission of an application and fee to the Board. (NAC 634A.121) **Section 17** eliminates that prohibition. **Section 15** makes a conforming change to the fees charged by the Board.

**Section 1.** Chapter 634A of NAC is hereby amended by adding thereto the provisions set forth as sections 2 and 3 of this regulation.

**Sec. 2.** *“National examination” means the examination required by paragraph (a) of subsection 1 of NRS 634A.120.*

**Sec. 3.** *“State examination” means the examination required by paragraph (b) of subsection 1 of NRS 634A.120.*

**Sec. 4.** NAC 634A.001 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.001 As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires, the words and terms defined in NAC 634A.002 to 634A.008, inclusive, *and sections 2 and 3 of this regulation* have the meanings ascribed to them in those sections.

**Sec. 5.** NAC 634A.071 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.071 1. A person who desires to be licensed by the Board as a doctor of Oriental medicine must, at least 3 months before the date of the ~~practical~~ *state* examination in which the person wishes to participate:

(a) File an application with the Executive Director;

(b) Pay to the Board at the time of filing his or her application any applicable fees set forth in NAC 634A.165; and

(c) Submit any other documentation or proof that the Board may require.

2. The application must be:

(a) Made on the form provided by the Board; and

(b) Typed or written in English.

3. The application must include:

- (a) The social security number of the applicant;
- (b) A set of the fingerprints of the applicant, together with written consent for the Board to submit the fingerprints to any law enforcement agency in connection with his or her application;
- (c) Written consent of the applicant to an investigation of his or her personal background, professional training and experience by the Board or any person acting on its behalf; and
- (d) Evidence that the applicant possesses the qualifications required pursuant to this chapter and chapter 634A of NRS for licensure as a doctor of Oriental medicine.

**Sec. 6.** NAC 634A.080 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.080 1. An applicant for a license to practice Oriental medicine must submit, together with his or her application, evidence that he or she has successfully completed a 4-year program of study, or its equivalent, in Oriental medicine at a school or college of Oriental medicine which is approved by the Board.

2. If the application is submitted pursuant to subsection 1 of NRS 634A.140, the applicant must submit evidence showing that he or she has earned a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university in the United States.

3. If the application for licensure by endorsement is submitted pursuant to subsection 2 of NRS 634A.140, the applicant must submit evidence that he or she:

(a) Has lawfully practiced Oriental medicine in another state or foreign country for at least 4 years; and

(b) Holds Oriental Medicine Certification by the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine or its successor organization.

4. For the purposes of subsection 1, the Board may approve a 4-year program of study, or its equivalent, in Oriental medicine at a school or college of Oriental medicine if the Board finds that:

(a) The school or college of Oriental medicine is:

(1) Accredited by the Accreditation Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine or its successor organization; or

(2) In pre-accreditation status with the Accreditation Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine or its successor organization and satisfies the requirements of paragraph (b).

(b) The program of study includes training or instruction in the subjects of acupuncture, moxibustion, herbology, Oriental physiology, Oriental pathology, Oriental diagnosis, tuina or qigong, biology, chemistry or biochemistry, anatomy, Western physiology, Western pathology, Western diagnosis ~~and~~ pharmacology . ~~laboratory and radiology.~~ **laboratory and radiology.**

(c) The program of study:

(1) Required the completion of at least 2,800 hours of instruction, including not less than 2,500 didactic hours, for a student to have graduated before November 25, 2002; or

(2) Requires the completion of at least 3,000 hours of instruction, including not less than 2,500 didactic hours, for a student to graduate on or after November 25, 2002 ~~and~~, *or results in the award of a combined bachelor's and master's degree in Oriental medicine to a student who graduates on or after November 25, 2002.*

*(3) A combined Bachelor's Master's degree in Oriental Medicine degree is considered sufficient to satisfy paragraph 2.*

5. For the purposes of subsection 1, the Board will deem a master's degree to be the equivalent of a 4-year program of study if the program of study for the degree conforms to the requirements of paragraphs (b) and (c) of subsection 4.

6. For the purposes of subsections 2 and 3, evidence that the applicant is qualified for licensure as a doctor of Oriental medicine must include certified copies of any diplomas, transcripts, licenses and certificates issued to the applicant. If possible, all certified copies of official diplomas, transcripts, licenses or certificates must be forwarded directly to the Executive Director from the issuing entity rather than from the applicant.

**Sec. 7.** NAC 634A.085 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.085 To comply with the requirement of passing ~~an~~ *the national* examination in Oriental medicine , ~~{that is administered by a national organization approved by the Board pursuant to NRS 634A.120,}~~ an applicant for licensure as a doctor of Oriental medicine must ~~1. Have~~ *have* passed ~~{the examinations}~~ *each examination* for Oriental Medicine Certification administered by the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine or its successor organization . ~~{within the 12 months preceding the date of application for licensure; or~~  
~~2. Be certified by the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine or its successor organization.}~~

**Sec. 8.** NAC 634A.090 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.090 1. An investigation of an applicant's background and training by the Board or any person acting on its behalf must include:

- (a) Verification of a report from the Federal Bureau of Investigation showing no prior convictions;
- (b) Verification of graduation from a school or college approved by the Board;
- (c) Verification of licensure in another state or country, if applicable;
- (d) Verification that questions on the application relating to the applicant's background have been answered correctly; and
- (e) Further investigation of an applicant who attended a foreign school or college or practiced Oriental medicine in another state or country as the circumstances warrant.

2. An applicant may not take the ~~practical~~ *state* examination for which he or she has applied before the investigation of his or her background and training has been completed.

**Sec. 9.** NAC 634A.100 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.100 1. Until such time as the Board implements a process for administering ~~the~~ *practical* ~~the state~~ examination online:

(a) The ~~practical~~ *state* examination will be given in June and December of each year ~~and~~ *and at any other time that the Board may designate.*

(b) An applicant may not take the ~~practical~~ *state* examination unless the applicant has first passed the ~~examinations required pursuant to NAC 634A.085.~~ *national examination.* The Executive Director shall notify an applicant of the time and place of the ~~practical~~ *state* examination not later than 20 days before the date on which the ~~practical~~ *state* examination is scheduled.

(c) During the ~~practical~~ *state* examination, only the testing consultant and the applicants will be allowed in the examination rooms.



2. Upon the implementation of a process for administering the ~~practical~~ *state* examination online:

(a) Examinations will be offered at times and places established by the Board but at least two times each year in accordance with NRS 634A.120.

(b) The Board will notify an applicant of his or her eligibility to take the ~~practical~~ *state* examination online. Not later than 90 days after notification by the Board, the applicant must take the examination online at the facility that is designated by the Board.

3. As a part of the ~~practical~~ *state* examination, the Board may examine an applicant as to his or her ~~basic~~ knowledge of the ~~following subjects:~~

~~—(a) Basic medical science concerning anatomy, physiology, pathology, bacteriology and communicable diseases.~~

~~—(b) The Clean Needle Technique, as presented in the current guidelines of the Clean Needle Technique course administered by the Council of Colleges of Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine.~~

~~—(c) Oriental medicine theory, herbology and acupuncture.~~

~~—(d) Oriental herb safety and herb-drug interactions.~~

~~—(e) ~~Applicable~~ laws and regulations *of this State* pertaining to health and safety ~~in the practice of Oriental medicine and the ethical standards applicable to the practice of Oriental medicine.~~~~

4. The ~~practical~~ *state* examination will be given in written form. Each applicant shall take the examination in the English language.

5. An applicant must receive ~~{an overall}~~ a score of *at least* 70 percent ~~{on the practical examination and 65 percent on each of its sections or subparts}~~ to pass the *state* examination.

**Sec. 10.** NAC 634A.110 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.110 ~~{H.}~~ An applicant for a license to practice Oriental medicine who fails the ~~{practical}~~ *state* examination may retake the examination on the next scheduled examination date. A person seeking reexamination must notify the Executive Director by completing a form prescribed by the Board and submitting the fee set forth in NAC 634A.165.

~~{2. If an applicant who has failed the practical examination failed only one section of the practical examination, the applicant will be reexamined only with respect to the section that he or she failed. If the applicant failed two or more sections of the practical examination, he or she must repeat the entire practical examination at the time of reexamination.}~~

**Sec. 11.** NAC 634A.135 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.135 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, a licensee shall complete, during each calendar year, at least 10 hours of continuing education.

2. A licensee may only receive credit for hours of continuing education in courses that have been approved by the Board pursuant to NAC 634A.137 or *if the CEU course has been approved by NCCAOM as a core competency with the designation of AOM-ABT, AOM-AC, AOM-BIO, AOM-CH, AOM-OM, AOM-SA, and/or AOM-ET, then it will be automatically deemed approved and no Board approval is necessary.*

3. Beginning with the 2003 calendar year, a licensee who earns more than 10 hours of credit for continuing education in any calendar year may carry forward up to 10 hours of excess credit and apply such excess credit to the educational requirements for the next calendar year. ~~{if the~~

~~licensee indicates in writing, at the time he or she submits the form for renewal of his or her license pursuant to NRS 634A.167, that the licensee intends to carry forward such excess credit.]~~

4. A licensee who is not practicing in this State may request the Board to classify his or her license as inactive. A person who holds an inactive license is exempt from the requirements set forth in this section regarding continuing education.

5. A person who is requesting the Board to change the classification of his or her license from inactive to active must:

(a) Satisfy the requirements of continuing education for the year in which the person seeks to reclassify his or her license; *and*

(b) Submit proof to the Board that the person has satisfied the applicable requirements. ~~†~~  
~~and~~

~~—(c) Submit the fee set forth in NAC 634A.165.]~~

and

(c) Submit the fee set forth in NAC 634A.165.

**Sec. 12.** NAC 634A.137 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.137 1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, a person or entity shall not offer a course of continuing education for licensees in this State unless the person or entity has first obtained approval for the course from the Board pursuant to this section.

2. Courses in *any of* the core ~~competency~~ *competencies* of ~~Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine and Biomedicine (AOM-BIO), Oriental Medicine Foundation and Theory (AOM-OM), Acupuncture (AOM-AC), Chinese Herbology (AOM-CH), Asian Bodywork Therapy~~

~~(AOM-ABT), Safety (SA) or Ethics (ET)~~, AOM-ABT, AOM-AC, AOM-BIO, AOM-CH, AOM-OM, AOM-SA, and/or AOM-ET, which are approved for recertification by the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine, may be offered as courses of continuing education for licensees in this State without approval from the Board and are exempt from the imposition of fees for approval of courses of continuing education pursuant to NAC 634A.165.

3. A person or entity may apply for approval of a course of continuing education by submitting to the Board:

(a) An application, on a form provided by the Board, which must include information indicating the specific subject or topics to be presented and the name of each proposed instructor;

(b) All material relating to the course, including, without limitation, written material to be provided to a licensee attending the course; and

(c) The fee required pursuant to NAC 634A.165.

4. If the Board approves a course of continuing education pursuant to this section, the Board will determine the number of hours of continuing education that a licensee may receive for attending the course.

5. Board approval of a course of continuing education other than a course described in subsection 2 expires 4 years after that approval.

**Sec. 13.** NAC 634A.140 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.140 Except as otherwise provided in this section, each person who holds an active or inactive license to practice Oriental medicine shall pay to the Board an annual fee for ~~the renewal~~ of the license as required by NAC 634A.165. ~~{The Board will prorate by month}~~ *A holder of a*

*license is not required to pay* the annual fee for the first renewal of an active or inactive license to practice Oriental medicine ~~+~~ *until February 1 of the year following the year in which the license was issued.*

**Sec. 14.** NAC 634A.150 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.150 1. Any person whose license has ~~been cancelled~~ *expired* pursuant to NRS ~~634A.160~~ *634A.167* and who desires to reinstate his or her license may have the license reinstated if:

(a) Not later than ~~1 year~~ *90 days* after the date on which the license ~~was cancelled~~ *expired*:

(1) The person submits to the Board ~~all required fees for the period during which his or her license was cancelled~~ *the annual fee for the renewal of the license*, plus any late fee set forth in NAC 634A.165; and

(2) The person submits proof of compliance with the applicable requirements concerning continuing education; and

(b) The Board reinstates the license of the person at a regularly scheduled meeting.

2. Any person whose license has ~~been cancelled~~ *expired* pursuant to NRS ~~634A.160~~ *634A.167*, who fails to comply with the requirements of paragraph (a) of subsection 1 and who desires a license must reapply for a new license.

**Sec. 15.** NAC 634A.165 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.165 The Board will charge and collect the following fees, *not to exceed the amount stated below and to be set annually in July by Board vote*:

Original application for licensure as a doctor of Oriental medicine .....	.....\$1,000.00
Renewal of active license before February 1 .....	.....700.00
<del>First year and each annual r</del> Renewal of inactive license before February 1 . .....	.....500.00
Penalty for late renewal of license within 90 days after February 1 .....	.....100.00
<del>Penalty for late renewal of license more than 90 days after February 1 .....</del>	<del>.....200.00</del>
<del>Penalty for reinstatement of cancelled expired license .....</del>	<del>.....500.00</del>
<del>Original application for use of fictitious name .....</del>	<del>.....100.00</del>
Replacement of pocket license .....	.....100.00
Replacement of license .....	.....200.00
Original fee for <del>practical</del> state examination .....	.....1,000.00
Reexamination fee for <del>practical</del> state examination .....	.....500.00
<del>{Transfer of license from active status to inactive status .....</del>	<del>.....200.00</del>
<del>Transfer of license from inactive status to active status .....</del>	<del>.....500.00</del>
Approval of course of continuing education .....	.....100.00
Temporary certificate for lecturing or training.....	.....100.00
Check returned for insufficient funds.....	.....25.00
For copies of this chapter and chapter 634A of NRS.....	.....10.00
For other copies, per page .....	.....0.25
For other copies, per compact disc or tape recording.....	.....20.00
Original application fee for a school or college of Oriental medicine .....	.....2,000.00

Annual fee for approval of curriculum before February 1 ..... 1,000.00

**Sec. 16.** NAC 634A.230 is hereby amended to read as follows:

634A.230 1. Fees and remittances must be paid to the Board by *credit card or debit card* *or by* money order, bank draft or check payable to “State Board of Oriental Medicine.”

Remittances in currency or coin are wholly at the risk of the remitter and the Board assumes no responsibility for their loss. Postage stamps will not be remitted.

2. The Board will not refund any part of the application fee to an applicant if the applicant:

(a) Does not complete his or her application by providing all the documentation required by the form for application within 6 months after the actual date of filing of the form by the applicant;

(b) Withdraws his or her application; or

(c) Dies before he or she is issued a license by the Board.

**3. *The Board will not refund any original or reexamination fee for the state examination or any renewal fee for an active or inactive license.***

**Sec. 17.** NAC 634A.095 and 634A.121 are hereby repealed.

---

---

**TEXT OF REPEALED SECTIONS**

---

---

**634A.095 Proficiency of applicant in English language. (NRS 634A.070, 634A.120)**

1. Except as otherwise provided in subsection 2, an applicant for a license to practice

Oriental medicine must:

(a) Before taking the practical examination:

(1) Pass the Test of English as a Foreign Language Paper-Based Test with a score of at least 550; or

(2) Pass the Test of English as a Foreign Language Internet-Based Test with a total score of at least 80; and

(b) At the time of the practical examination, demonstrate a reasonable proficiency in the English language through an oral interview.

2. Subsection 1 does not apply to an applicant who graduated from a high school or college in the United States.

**634A.121 Practice under fictitious name; prohibition against multiple licenses and registration under same name. (NRS 634A.070)**



1. A licensee shall not operate under a fictitious name unless the licensee complies with chapter 602 of NRS and files with the Board a certified copy of the certificates issued by the county clerk.

2. Any licensee who wishes to practice under a fictitious name must submit to the Board an application, on a form provided by the Board, accompanied by a fee of \$50.

3. The Board will not issue more than one license or register more than one licensee under the same name.